KNOWLEDGE-BASED HIV PREVENTION INTERVENTION Targeting men who have sex with men

A summary and discussion of six international research reviews

RONNY TIKKANEN 2007

The National Board of Health and Welfare classifies its publications into various types of document. This is *Material from experts*. This means that it is based on science and/or proven experience. The authors are responsible for content and conclusions. The National Board of Health and Welfare does not draw any conclusions of its own in the document. The experts' material may, however, provide a basis for the National Board of Health and Welfare's positions.

ISBN: 978-91-85999-28-6 Article number: 2008-123-12 Graphic design: AB Typoform

Printing: Edita Västra Aros, June 2008

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Preface	5
Introduction – Purpose and Structure	7
Six International Research Reviews of HIV Prevention Intervention for Men who have Sex with Men	10
A Meta-Analytic Review of HIV Behavioral Interventions for Reducing Sexual Risk Behavior of Men who have Sex with Men (Herbst et al. 2005)	10
HIV Prevention Research for Men who have Sex with Men: A Systematic Review and Meta-analysis (Johnson et al. 2002)	4
Two analyses of the effects HIV testing and counselling in connection with HIV testing have on sexual risk behaviour (Wolitski et al. 1997; Weinhardt et al. 1999)	15
HIV prevention: a review of reviews assessing the effectiveness of interventions to reduce the risk of sexual transmission (Ellis et al. 2003)	17
HIV Health Promotion and Men who have Sex with Men (MSM): A systematic review of research relevant to the development and implementation of effective and appropriate interventions (Rees et al. 2004)	20
Summary and reflections on the six international research reviews	23
Knowledge-based Hiv Prevention Intervention for Men who have Sex with Men in Sweden	26
Articles published in scientific journals	26
Publications by the Swedish National Institute of Public Health	30
Publications by actors in the field of HIV prevention	34
Summary and reflections on the Swedish research review	40
Concluding Summary	42
Bibliography	46
Appendix I. Articles Included in The Six International Research Reviews	52



PRFFACE

HIV/AIDS WAS ORIGINALLY expected to follow the course of earlier epidemics – short, intense and devastating, but soon curbed by a vaccination programme. However, the epidemic has been slow, steady and elusive despite medical progress. HIV is here to stay, and there is more of a need for effective, ongoing prevention interventions than ever before.

Swedish population studies show that neither the public in general nor young people in particular believe that HIV/AIDS is still a problem in Sweden. But the truth is that the likelihood of encountering a person with HIV infection has never been as great as it is now. Precisely because people are living with HIV instead of dying, the group is growing year by year. As in the rest of Europe the annual number of new infections has begun to increase again at a worrying rate.

Studies show that most people diagnosed with HIV take their responsibility not to infect others seriously and that treatment helps reduce the risk of transmission. Nevertheless, at least one Swede is infected every day. Because there are no obvious symptoms of primary infection, people have no way of finding out unless they choose to be tested. The prevalence of other STIs is also on the rise.

Some groups of people are more vulnerable to HIV infection than others and therefore have been targeted for special prevention efforts. Men who have sex with men (MSM) face the greatest risk of all such groups. This has been the case ever since HIV first appeared in Sweden, even though the prevalence of HIV is low in an international comparison.

An alarming finding is that young MSM do not protect themselves against HIV as much as older ones and that they lack basic knowledge of the risks involved.

This is the first Swedish report to summarise the results of international research about HIV prevention intervention for MSM. Unfortunately, such research has not been conducted on a continuous basis. But Ronny Tikkanen, holder of a PhD in Social Work from the University of Gothenburg and currently a researcher at Malmö University, has made an excellent job of highlighting the conclusions that can be drawn from the sometimes scanty material. The results reveal both what is already known and what requires additional research. The report shows that there has been virtually no research in Sweden concerning the issues surrounding intervention. However, Dr Tik-

kanen has included descriptions of interventions by NGOs and the healthcare sector on either a permanent or ad hoc basis over the past 20 years. Many of the interventions are in line with subsequent research findings described in this report. The slower progression of the epidemic during the period may be attributable to these efforts. But the trend appears to be shifting. Sustained, improved health promotion and prevention efforts for MSM are sorely needed at present.

The purpose of this report is to serve as a basis for planning and intervention efforts by non-profit organisations, county councils and local government units, as well as to structure research and educational initiatives. Our hope is that the findings will provide direction for future intervention and research.

As part of its mission to disseminate knowledge and support various sectors in combating HIV/AIDS, the National Board of Health and Welfare will arrange seminars throughout Sweden to discuss how the findings of this report can be used and implemented at the local level. Research must be presented to the larger community in a way that allows it to shape policy and practice. Dr Tikkanen will actively participate in the initiative.

This report is the first in a series of summaries concerning the state of research about HIV and other STIs. We hope that the reports will help us promote prevention interventions that are more knowledge-based and effective.

Viveca Urwitz

Head of Unit for National Coordination of HIV/STI Prevention

INTRODUCTION — PURPOSE AND STRUCTURE

THE PURPOSE OF THIS REPORT is to summarise international research reviews of effective HIV prevention intervention for men who have sex with men (MSM). Initiated by the Unit for HIV Prevention and Control of the Swedish National Board of Health and Welfare, the report includes a summary and discussion of the results of six international research reviews. The reviews examine ways of designing effective, successful HIV prevention interventions for MSM. This report also contains an overview of published research about such efforts in Sweden. The conclusion of the report discusses the need for knowledge-based HIV prevention intervention in Sweden. Margareta Forsberg, holder of a PhD in Social Work from the University of Gothenburg, has been engaged in a similar project for adolescents. A report entitled Sexuell hälsa bland ungdomar – internationella och svenska erfarenheter av förebyggande arbete (Sexual Health in Young People: International research summaries and Swedish experiences of preventive work) (2007) presents Forsberg's findings.

Evidence-based interventions have long been an established healthcare concept. The term dates back to the 1970s (Bergmark 2005). With regard to social interventions and treatment methods (such as the substance abuse activities of the social services), the evidence-based discourse has been more pronounced over the past decade. The discourse has revealed theoretical disagreements among researchers with respect to measuring the effectiveness of various interventions. The discourse remains important as a means of focusing on the integration of research and clinical practice. The evidence-based discourse about HIV prevention intervention has been steadily growing, particularly in the present decade. This report presents several research reviews that critically examine the effectiveness of various interventions to reduce the number of people who engage in sexual risk behaviour or become infected with HIV.

^{1.} The Swedish National Encyclopaedia defines intervention as "a scientific umbrella concept covering both prevention and treatment methods." Wikipedia, the free encyclopedia, defines a health intervention as "an effort to promote good health behaviour such as physical exercise or to prevent bad health behaviours, e.g. promoting tobacco smoking cessation or discouraging the use of illicit drugs or excessive drinking. Health interventions may be run by a variety of organizations, including departments of health and private organizations."

This report uses the term *knowledge-based* rather than *evidence-based*, which is narrower and more limited to specific methodologies. While including evidence-based methods, discussion of knowledge-based interventions opens the door to consideration of ways in which knowledge generated by clinical practice about the needs and behaviour of particular groups can make prevention efforts more effective and successful. Knowledge-based interventions also include theoretically grounded prevention methods, one indication of a successful approach.

This report is based primarily on the results of six international research reviews published in 1997–2005 (see Table 1). The reviews differ in a number of ways. Four of them contain meta-analyses that combine the results of various studies and calculate the total effectiveness of a specific intervention or method. Three of them contain a systematic review of successful HIV prevention interventions, describing and discussing the percentage of studies that show favourable and unfavourable results. In other words, no statistical effect size calculation was performed (see the examination of research review methodology in Bergmark 2005). Subsequent parts of this report discuss the approaches taken by the six international research reviews in greater detail.

Table I. Research reviews

	Number of articles included in review	Publication period	Type of analysis or summary in research review
Herbst et al. (2005)	33	1989–2005	Meta-analysis
Johnson et al. (2002)	9	1989–1997	Meta-analysis
Wolitski et al. (1997)	4*	1990–1995	Systematic review
Weinhardt et al. (1999)	8*	1987-1991	Meta-analysis
Ellis et al. (2003)	12	1987–1997	Systematic review**
Rees et al. (2004)	8***	1997–2002	Meta-analysis and systematic review (narrative synthesis)

^{*} Wolitski et al. contains 35 articles and Weinhardt et al. contains 27 articles. The table and bibliography of this report include those studies (4 and 8 articles respectively) that focus on MSM and changes in sexual risk-taking/behaviour.

^{**} Consists of an analysis of 2 research reviews.

^{***} The research review also includes 10 studies focusing on the views and experiences of MSM with regard to HIV-related sexual health.

The international research reviews also differ in terms of scope, as well as the level of detail at which the results are discussed and analysed. The first four reviews are articles published in scientific journals. As a result, they are limited to 6–12 pages each. Furthermore, they discuss the content of the specific methods to a limited extent only. The other two reviews are considerably longer, while discussing and analysing the results in a more in-depth manner.

The six research reviews cover a total of 46 articles (summarised in Appendix 1). Nineteen of the articles are cross-references among the first, second, fifth and sixth reviews. The appendix briefly describes the HIV prevention interventions examined by the various articles. This provides readers with the opportunity to learn more about a particular method or study. The bibliography contains complete reference information for the articles.

The six research reviews also vary in terms of focus. The first, second, fifth and sixth are more general, while the third and fourth focus on a specific aspect (counselling and testing) of HIV prevention intervention.

SIX INTERNATIONAL RESEARCH REVIEWS OF HIV PREVENTION INTERVENTION FOR MEN WHO HAVE SEX WITH MEN

THIS SECTION OF THE REPORT presents the results of the six international research reviews of HIV prevention intervention for men who have sex with men (MSM).

A Meta-Analytic Review of HIV Behavioral Interventions for Reducing Sexual Risk Behavior of Men who have Sex with Men (Herbst et al. 2005)

This article, which contains a meta-analysis of the effectiveness of HIV prevention interventions for MSM, was written by a research team at the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC) in the United States. A systematic search of published and unpublished research results identified more than 1 000 articles and reports that in some way concerned HIV prevention intervention for MSM. A carefully considered procedure reduced the number to 33 based on a number of selection criteria.² The researchers then calculated odds ratios as a measure of effect size, i.e., the success of the various interventions.³

Because the studies used differing measures of successful prevention, the calculation of odds ratios introduced certain reliability problems. Most of the studies (24) used a reduction in the frequency of unprotected anal intercourse (UAI) as a measure of success. The great majority of those studies made no

The research team searched for articles in English that were available up to July 2003. 1 066 articles were excluded because they did not clearly focus on HIV prevention interventions for MSM. Six articles were subsequently excluded because they lacked sufficient information for an analysis of effect size.

^{3.} The odds ratio represented effect size in the various studies included in the research review. An odds ratio less than 1 means a lower value for the dependent variable (such as less frequent UAI or fewer sexual partners). An odds ratio greater than 1 means a higher value for the dependent variable (such as condom use).

distinction between UAI with various types of partners and with a partner of unknown HIV status. But two studies distinguished between UAI with a partner of known or unknown HIV status and used a reduction in the frequency with a partner of unknown status as a measure of successful prevention. Almost one third of the studies in the research review used a reduction in the number of partners as such a measure.⁴ Among other measures employed by the various studies were condom use during anal intercourse (nine studies) and a reduction in the frequency of unprotected oral intercourse (four studies). A subsequent part of this report will discuss the reliability issues that may arise when attempting to measure the success of a specific HIV prevention intervention.

Eighteen studies (randomised controlled trials) in the research review used a control group that received no intervention. Ten studies compared the results of various groups that had received the same type of intervention. Five studies lacked both a control and comparison group but were considered to meet the requirements for scientific evidence.

What results did the meta-analysis generate? The research team performed two types of analyses of the data. The first type looked at the total impact of the studies on the frequency of UAI, a reduction in the number of partners, increased condom use during anal intercourse or a reduction in the frequency of unprotected oral intercourse. The second type involved stratified analyses, i.e., determination of whether specific aspects of the interventions were effective.

The first issue is the total impact of the various interventions on the behaviour of the informants. The overall meta-analysis shows highly favourable results with regard to a reduction in the frequency of UAI. Combining the results of all studies that used this measure reveals a considerable reduction in the odds that participants would engage in UAI.⁵ The nine studies that employed condom use during anal intercourse as a measure found a significant increase in the odds that participants would use condoms during anal intercourse.⁶ The initial analysis of the ten studies that used a reduction in the number of sexual partners as a measure of effective prevention showed no statistically significant impact. The researchers identified a particular study (significant outlier) that deviated and was thereby eliminated from the analysis. Thus, the nine remaining studies found that the number of sexual partners

^{4.} Most of the studies combine different kinds of measures.

^{5.} The total odds ratio is 0.77 with a 95 percent confidence interval: 0.65-0.92.

^{6.} The total odds ratio is 1.61 with a 95 percent confidence interval: 1.16-2.22.

was likely to decrease after intervention.⁷ The four studies that used a reduction in the frequency of unprotected oral intercourse as a measure of effective prevention showed no significant impact. Based on the above results, the researchers draw the conclusion that HIV prevention interventions for MSM are effective in that they reduce sexual risk behaviour.

As mentioned above, the researchers also performed a stratified analysis of specific aspects of the various interventions. The most clear-cut result of the analysis was that interventions based on a well-defined theoretical framework had a more pronounced impact (reduction in the frequency of UAI) than those that were not explicitly based on such a framework. Not only that, two theoretical frameworks (diffusion of innovation and the model of relapse prevention) were also more effective than others. Social learning theory and other frameworks showed no significant impact. A subsequent part of this report will discuss the role of theoretical models in greater detail.

Another result emphasised by the researchers is that multi-component interventions are more effective than single-component interventions. The stratified analysis also revealed that group-level methods (discussions or role playing) could be combined with others in a particularly constructive way. Furthermore, multi-session interventions, or single-session interventions that lasted for at least 4 hours, were more successful. The analysis also found that interventions became more effective in terms of reduction in the frequency of UAI the longer the time span between sessions (with a significant lower limit of 3 weeks).

The stratified analysis highlighted specific aspects of interventions for which a number of results show *no* differences. For instance, the interventions proved to be equally effective regardless of the age and educational level of participants. Moreover, the analysis demonstrated that HIV prevention interventions were just as effective after introducing combination therapies (1996) as before doing so. Given that some of the interventions were carried out prior to 1996, this is important to keep in mind.

What criticism can be levelled at the methodology employed by the U.S. research team? The article itself calls attention to and discusses most of the vulnerabilities inherent to the meta-analysis. In the first place, the weaknesses of individual studies affect the overall reliability and validity of any meta-analysis. As mentioned above, the main issue is the validity of the research, i.e., how the various studies measured successful HIV prevention intervention. Is a reduction in the frequency of UAI, which most studies used, a valid

^{7.} The total odds ratio is 0.76 with a 95 percent confidence interval: 0.61-0.94.

measure? Both Swedish and international empirical evidence indicates that MSM adapt their practice of UAI to partner type (see research review in Tikkanen 2003). Many of today's researchers call attention to this dynamic when exploring the frequency of UAI among MSM. Current studies are much more likely to ask participants about both partner type and knowledge of HIV status when inquiring about UAI. The U.S. team also points to reliability issues, particularly with respect to statements by informants, with which research about sexual behaviour constantly wrestles. For instance, long recall times (such as 12 months) may lead to false recollection or repression (see methodological discussion in Catania et al. 1993). The Swedish MSM questionnaire study dealt with that issue by combining 12-month recall time with questions about the last time the respondent had sex with a man (see Tikkanen et al. 2006). The above discussion about validity and reliability underlines the importance of critical thinking about outcome measures when conducting future evidence-based studies.

The researchers conclude by offering a glimpse of evidence-based HIV prevention practice in the United States. In their view, passing on evidence-based research to those who work with prevention on a daily basis poses a genuine challenge. As part of this effort, the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC) has a separate website to facilitate the use of scientifically documented methods. Because Swedish actors in the field of HIV prevention are fewer and more amenable to consensus concerning a new methodological approach than their counterparts in the United States, it is significantly easier for them to disseminate information and thereby use documented methods. Furthermore, Sweden has an established collaborative effort between research and practical prevention that can be built on. But it is important to adapt methods to Swedish culture and circumstances. As the researchers point out in their concluding discussion, such adaptation is particularly needed when attempting to reach specific subgroups of MSM.

^{8.} http://www.effectiveinterventions.org

HIV Prevention Research for Men who have Sex with Men: A Systematic Review and Meta-analysis (Johnson et al. 2002)

The meta-analysis published by Johnson et al. is largely reminiscent of that by the Herbst research team. The main differences are that the reports covered by Johnson et al. were published until the end of 1997 and described interventions performed in the United States only. The meta-analysis includes nine studies, all of which focused on MSM and met the criteria for scientific quality set by the research team. The nine studies used differing types of measures of successful intervention. All of the studies relied on behavioural measures (frequency of unprotected intercourse, condom use or number of partners), and all of them included UAI. The researchers coded the various studies by identifying independent (explanatory) variables. They wanted to explore whether or not the variables had any impact on the outcome of an intervention. The variables involved both the content of the intervention (such as strengthening interpersonal skills or self-esteem) and how it was carried out (such as at the individual or group level).

The overall analysis showed a 26 percent reduction in men engaging in UAI in the intervention groups compared with the control groups (95 percent confidence interval: 11-43 percent). The stratified analysis found that studies that included interpersonal skills training were particularly successful, significantly reducing the percentage of participants engaging in UAI. But the data are too limited to determine which type of intervention to strengthen interpersonal skills is most effective. An overview of the nine studies shows that the majority contained some type of interpersonal component. For instance, participants rehearsed communicating about and negotiating safer sex or discussed relationship issues in a group.

The meta-analysis revealed that community-level interventions were equally successful as small-group interventions (no criteria for what constitutes a small group are specified). Three of the nine studies included community-level interventions. Two of these interventions used popular opinion leaders. The third study employed a publicity campaign and training of peer educators. But care should be exercised not to draw hasty conclusions about similarities between community-level and small-group interventions. A reasonable assumption is that they satisfy different needs of MSM and are

^{9.} The kinds of control groups varied among the studies that were included in the meta-analysis.

not interchangeable. A subsequent part of this report will discuss that issue in greater detail.

Thus, the meta-analysis of Johnson et al. provides some insight into the ways in which the content and format of interventions affect their effectiveness. Can particular groups of MSM be identified that changed their sexual risk behaviour more than others following intervention? The researchers found that men younger than 30 and those who had more frequent UAI were more likely to change their behaviour after HIV prevention intervention. But they advise against drawing sweeping conclusions on that basis, given that a change is always more evident among people with a highly frequent behaviour of some kind.

Similarly, the data generated a certain age bias – because UAI was more common among younger men, the impact of intervention may have been manifested more clearly in them.

Two analyses of the effects HIV testing and counselling in connection with HIV testing have on sexual risk behaviour (Wolitski et al. 1997; Weinhardt et al. 1999)

This report deals jointly with two research reviews that concentrate on HIV counselling and testing (HIV CT). Neither of the reviews focuses specifically on MSM, but they include other groups – heterosexuals and injecting drug users (IDUs). The research review of Wolitski et al. includes four reports that concentrated on MSM and changes in sexual behaviour after HIV CT. The review by Weinhardt et al. includes eight MSM references. The review by Wolitski et al., but not Weinhardt et al., contains a separate discussion about MSM. A shortcoming of both reviews is that they do not analyse the impact of counselling structure and content, that is to say they do not perform stratified analyses based on differing results for example between supportive counselling and advisory counselling. The lack of such analyses probably helps explain why some studies found favourable behaviour changes following HIV CT and others did not. The review by Wolitski et al. raises the issue in its concluding discussion, arguing that future studies of interventions in connection with HIV CT should analyse how the various components (counselling before and after testing, as well as the test results) affect behavioural changes. What do the results of the reviews, however contradictory, indicate?

Wolitski's research team offers a systematic review of studies that measured the impact of counselling in connection with HIV antibody testing. As a result, the discussion centres exclusively on the findings of the various studies. In other words, the review lacks a meta-analysis with regular effect size measures. The researchers include four studies that examined changes in sexual behaviour after participants received HIV testing and were scheduled for counselling or other support services. Two of these studies (Huggins et al. 1991 and Zapka et al. 1991) found a significant reduction in sexual risk practices (the researchers do not specify how the studies measured such practices). As the researchers point out, both studies extended over a long period of time, increasing the odds that other factors influenced behaviour changes. The results of the other two studies, which reported cross-sectional data and compared those who had and had not received HIV testing, pointed in another direction. Roffman et al. (1995) found that HIV-tested MSM had more frequent intercourse using condoms, as well as engaging in more non-penetrative sex acts, than untested men. However, tested men had more partners (which is regarded by Wolitski et al. as a risk factor) and engaged in UAI to the same extent as untested men. Dawson et al. (1991) found that HIV-tested men were more likely to engage in UAI afterwards than untested men. It should be noted that almost half of the men in Dawson's study were not given the opportunity for counselling at the time of HIV testing and that methodological limitations made it difficult to determine with certainty whether they had engaged in UAI before or afterwards.

Weinhardt et al. performed a meta-analysis of studies that measured the impact of HIV CT. The review also includes studies of heterosexual women and men, as well as IDUs. Because the researchers do not discuss MSM separately, this report considers the results generated by the overall meta-analysis. The analysis of Weinhardt et al. includes 27 studies, eight of which involved MSM. The researchers use differences in a standardised mean difference index before and after HIV CT to measure effect size. The mean was calculated for three different parameters: frequency of UAI, condom use and number of sexual partners. The researchers also coded the studies based on the presence of various characteristics, such as a description of the participants and the content of counselling (how to use condoms, etc.). Although the studies were coded for the content of counselling, the meta-analysis offers no results in that respect. The results of the meta-analysis show that HIV-positive women and men, as well couples of differing HIV status (serodiscordant couples), were most likely to change their sexual behaviour after HIV CT. Thus, the researchers conclude that HIV CT is an effective secondary prevention strategy, i.e., an attempt to change behaviour in people who have tested HIV-positive But the researchers find that HIV CT is not an effective primary

prevention strategy. They base this conclusion on results of the meta-analysis demonstrating the lack of behavioural differences between people who underwent HIV antibody testing followed by the opportunity for counselling and those who did not undergo such testing.

The meta-analysis also showed that older people changed their sexual behaviour more than younger people (no specific age range is mentioned). The researchers explain the difference in terms of greater personal maturity and the likelihood of having a stable relationship rather than the impact of HIV CT in itself. Another significant difference that emerges from the meta-analysis is that people who sought HIV CT on their own initiative changed their behaviour more than those who were offered it as part of a research programme. Weinhardt et al. conclude that people who autonomously sought HIV CT had already decided to change their behaviour.

The concluding discussion by Weinhardt et al. identifies specific methodological problems in the evidence-based research on HIV CT as a primary prevention strategy. The researchers maintain that current research reports lack information on advisory and supportive counselling in connection with HIV antibody testing. They raise the issue from the level of research methodology to a quality issue in primary prevention. In their view, 5-10 minutes of pretest counselling and 10-30 minutes of post-test counselling may not be long enough to motivate changes in risk behaviour. The researchers therefore call for interventions in connection with HIV antibody testing that are guided by theories of behaviour change.

HIV prevention: a review of reviews assessing the effectiveness of interventions to reduce the risk of sexual transmission (Ellis et al. 2003)

This review is longer than the first four, as well as containing a more in-depth discussion and analysis of the results. The British team examines the results of research reviews with respect to effective HIV prevention intervention for MSM, commercial sex workers (CSWs), people with HIV and Africans in the United Kingdom. As in this report, the review in other words summarises what other researchers have said about effective interventions to reduce the risk of HIV transmission. The report does not contain a meta-analysis, but uses a systematic review approach in which the proportion of studies that generated favourable and unfavourable results is presented and discussed. Ellis et al. base their analysis on two research review articles (Oakley et. al

1996 and Kegeles & Hart 1998), which include reports from a total of twelve different studies (see Appendix 1 for a list). The articles used a systematic review approach in summarising the results of the analysis.

Ellis et al. present and discuss the results of their review based on three different intervention levels: individual, group and community (a more general level in the HBT community¹⁰). At these levels, the researchers draw a series of conclusions about whether the evidence is sufficient to state whether the intervention is effective or not (a similar discussion appears in one of the articles included in Forsberg 2007). The researchers identify four types of evidence: 1) sufficient review-level evidence; 2) tentative review-level evidence. The first two types indicate that the intervention can have a significant impact on sexual risk behaviour (UAI) when the circumstances are similar and the target group has similar unmet needs. The other two types indicate that additional research is required to assess the effectiveness of the intervention. In other words, the last two types do not wholly discount the effectiveness of the interventions. In some cases, behaviour changes following intervention may be just above the level of statistical significance.

The researchers include only one study that examined an individual-level intervention (Gold & Rosenthal 1996, which is included in Kegeles & Hart 1998). The intervention involved asking men to reflect on a recent occasion when they broke their own rules on safer sex. The men were encouraged to consider various self-justifications, which the researchers regard as commonly employed when people explain their sexual risk behaviour (such as "He was attractive" or "I was intoxicated"). Gold and Rosenthal used two comparison groups – one that received no intervention and one that was shown HIV prevention material on two occasions. Two months after the intervention, all the men filled out a questionnaire on their sexual behaviour. The results showed that the group that had received the intervention reported fewer occasions on which they had failed to practise safer sex. Because only one study in the two research reviews examined an individual-level intervention, Ellis et al. cannot draw any definite conclusions about the effectiveness of such interventions. More research is thus needed. Note that the research reviews did not contain individual-level interventions that included HIV CT.

The researchers included eight group-level studies. Among the interventions described in these studies were instruction on HIV and AIDS combined with exercises focusing on the connection between cognition and behaviour

^{10.} HBT is the Swedish abbreviation for LGBT, also GLBT, which is an acronym referring collectively to Lesbian, Gay, Bisexual, and Transgender/Transsexual people.

(Kelly et al. 1989), as well as a one-day workshop that focused on relationships and risk-taking at their various stages (Kelly et al. 1996). Ellis et al. draw three conclusions about the effectiveness of group-level interventions. The first conclusion is that the evidence is sufficient to establish that multi-component group-level interventions effectively reduce sexual risk behaviour. In other words, the design of an intervention programme should include various components that interact to achieve the total impact. For instance, instruction can be combined with a workshop that includes discussion and exercises for negotiating safer sex.

The second conclusion that the researchers draw about group-level interventions is that the evidence is sufficient to establish that interventions focusing on cognitions and allowing participants to practise various skills effectively reduce sexual risk behaviour. For instance, interventions that focus on cognitions may involve identifying and discussing how participants think about and assess risks in different situations (see Gold & Skinner's analysis of cold and hot cognitions). Skills training might involve negotiating with partners about condom use or adopting other risk-reducing practices. The third conclusion that Ellis et al. draw about group-level interventions is that there is insufficient evidence to establish whether multi-session interventions are more effective than single-session interventions. This may appear to contradict the first conclusion about group-level interventions. Ellis et al. take up the issue, arguing that multiple components – not sessions – are what make the interventions effective.

Four studies describe community-level interventions. Among such interventions are the use of popular opinion leaders or traditional outreach that involves handing out condoms and lubricants at gay bars. Ellis et al. find that there is sufficient evidence that community-level interventions that include peer educators or popular opinion leaders effectively reduce sexual risk behaviour.

Kelly et al. (1997) describe an effective community-level intervention whereby bartenders at a heavily frequented gay bar identified people who were popular and respected in the community. These people received training on how to deliver safer sex messages to their friends and acquaintances. A 12-month follow-up found that condom use increased and the frequency of UAI decreased among men who had received the intervention.

Besides drawing conclusions about the three levels of intervention, Ellis et al. offer several general evidence-based findings. One finding is that interventions for MSM are more effective if preceded by research on, and adapted to, the specific needs and circumstances of the target group. In other words,

collaboration between researchers and actors in the field of HIV prevention contributes to a successful effort.

Ellis et al present an interesting discussion on the results of their review. They argue that HIV prevention interventions for MSM must take a broader approach and be placed in a wider context of psychosocial health promotion. Dealing with the risk of HIV transmission must be linked to issues of self-esteem, relationships and homophobia.

HIV Health Promotion and Men who have Sex with Men (MSM): A systematic review of research relevant to the development and implementation of effective and appropriate interventions (Rees et al. 2004)

The sixth research review covered by this report was published by British researchers at the EPPI Centre¹¹, University of London. In addition to systematically reviewing effective HIV prevention, the review differs from those discussed above in that it also looks at the results of a systematic review of research on the views and experiences of MSM concerning HIV-related sexual health. Rees et al. also use a more refined method of measurement for effective HIV prevention. Until 2004, meta-analyses of effective HIV prevention for MSM did not generally distinguish between UAI for men of known and unknown HIV status. The researchers explore possible reduction in the incidence of UAI with someone of opposite HIV status (serodiscordant) or with someone whose HIV status is not known when speaking about the effectiveness of various interventions. Thus, their results may be considered to be of greater validity because they identify the kinds of anal intercourse that may entail a risk of HIV transmission.

The research review contains both a meta-analysis and a systematic review (narrative synthesis). The meta-analysis is based on four studies. The remaining studies, including those that explore the views and experiences of HIV-related sexual health among MSM, are subject to narrative synthesis. Because such views and experiences are somewhat beyond the purview of this report, the narrative synthesis concerning them is presented only briefly here. These studies are not included in the attached list of publications.

The meta-analysis calculates odds ratios as a measure of effect size, i.e., the success (or otherwise) of various prevention interventions. Unlike previ-

^{11.} Evidence for Policy and Practice. Information and Co-ordination Centre.

ous meta-analytic, empirical studies, Rees et. al refine UAI as an outcome variable, distinguishing between partners of known and unknown HIV status. Because such an analysis reflects actual risk behaviour, it may be regarded as more valid.

The meta-analysis is broken down into two parts, the first of which covers the outcome variables of UAI with someone who is serodiscordant or whose HIV status is not known. The other part covers the outcome variable of UAI with casual partners. The results of the analysis show that interventions, whether at the individual or group level, containing cognitive-behavioural counselling are more effective than traditional counselling. The analysis demonstrates that the odds of having UAI with partners of different or unknown HIV status decreased by half at 6-month follow-up after cognitive-behavioural counselling. 12

A 12-month follow-up still found differences, but not statistically significant, between the intervention and control groups.¹³ The non-significant result was due to drop-outs, as well as the need for this type of intervention to be followed up by an effort that takes advantage of the knowledge that has been generated. The other meta-analyses performed by Rees et al. show no significant differences at follow-up with regard to reduction of sexual risk behaviour. One of these meta-analyses deals with two British interventions centred on peer education, which did not show any differences in reduced risk behaviour in a follow-up. An explanation advanced by the researchers is that the interventions could not be carried out as planned because it was difficult to recruit peer educators, and those who were recruited had difficulty initiating effective interviews and discussions with the target group. A meta-analysis of interventions (whether at the individual or group level) in which participants were offered the opportunity to place sexual risk-taking behaviours in the broad context of psychological, social and physical well-being showed no significant differences with respect to the incidence of casual UAI.

The narrative synthesis of British research concerning MSM's views and experiences of HIV-related sexual health focuses on three groups that Rees et al. regard as particularly vulnerable in terms of risk behaviour: those who sell sex, those who are 25 or younger and those who are HIV-positive. The analysis includes ten studies (see Rees et al. 2004 for the bibliography). The researchers identify 33 different needs that they consider important for appropriate and effective HIV prevention intervention among the three groups. Most of the

^{12.} The total odds ratio is 0.49 with a 95 percent confidence interval: 0.29-0.84.

^{13.} The total odds ratio is 0.64 with a 95 percent confidence interval: 0.31-1.33. The result is not significant at a 5 percent level.

needs are specific to one particular group. For instance, MSM who sell sex need non-judgemental health services, while those 25 and younger need interventions that affirm self and identity. Only three needs were common to more than one group: improving communication skills about HIV status, informing MSM of the markers that they might be using to determine HIV status, and placing sexual risk-taking in the broad context of psychological, social and physical well-being. The researchers classify the 33 needs according to the primary level to which they apply: group, community, service or overall planning. The researchers then perform an analysis of how the interventions described in the previous evaluations meet the various needs.

The comparative analysis reveals that the interventions described in the studies fully matched only two of the 33 needs: informing MSM of the markers that they might be using to determine HIV status and placing sexual risk-taking in the broad context of psychological, social and physical well-being. The researchers find that the interventions described in the evaluations partially met five additional needs. Three of the five needs are derived from HIV-positive MSM: taking into consideration the conflicts inherent to balancing sexual intimacy and pleasure with condom use and communication about HIV (1), helping them deal with the psychological impact of HIV diagnosis and subsequent life as a sexual being (2), and addressing the communication and strategic skills needed to deal with situations (such as disclosure and condom use) that they find difficult (3).

The various interventions partially matched two needs of young MSM: taking into consideration the complicating factors surrounding condom use and the impact of condoms on sexual pleasure (1), and supporting inclusive conceptualisations of MSM identity (2). It is worth noting that none of the interventions included in the evaluations called attention to any of the remaining needs. Rees et al. point this out, remarking that the HIV prevention interventions covered by the review did not match or call attention to any of the needs derived from the community or overall planning level or within the services offered to MSM. A conclusion that the researchers draw from that observation is that research on the HIV prevention needs of MSM is important because it gives a pointer to the types of interventions that should be offered to them.

Summary and reflections on the six international reserrch reviews

The combined results of the six international research reviews clearly demonstrate that HIV prevention interventions can lead to behaviour change. The meta-analyses show an average 23–26% reduction in sexual risk-taking (UAI).

Stratified analyses reveal that group-level interventions are particularly effective, probably because much of sexuality is a social construct that emerges from agreements that people make about the valuation and interpretation of sexual behaviour. Furthermore, sexuality is heavily influenced by norms that are forged and maintained by social interaction. Group-level intervention is thus an excellent way for people to learn about their own sexuality. It also provides individual participants with the opportunity to see their own experiences, views and ideas through the eyes of others.

Ellis et al. find that there is insufficient evidence to conclude that individuallevel interventions are effective. It should be borne in mind that this result is based on only one study that used such interventions. Consideration should instead be given to another evidence-based observation made by both Ellis et al. and Herbst et al., i.e., that multi-component interventions are more effective than single-component interventions. Because such interventions meet various types of needs, they are more likely to produce favourable behaviour changes. Individual-level interventions have a natural place as part of comprehensive programmes. MSM all have different needs. Group sessions may suffice for some of them, while others require individual counselling with a social worker or other health professional. The finding of Johnson et al. that community-level interventions are as effective as small-group interventions is relevant in this regard. Though a pleasant surprise, the finding should not lead to hasty conclusions. Community-level HIV prevention cannot take the place of group-level (or individual-level) approaches because each type of intervention meets different needs.

The research reviews disagree about what time frame is most effective. Herbst et al. argue that multi-session interventions, or single-session interventions that last for at least four hours (such as a half-day workshop), are most effective. Furthermore, extending the time between interventions (for example group sessions) leads to more successful interventions. Ellis et al. find insufficient evidence to conclude that multi-session interventions are more effective. An educated guess based on these conflicting findings is that the types of components in the intervention as a whole, rather than the number of sessions, are the decisive factor.

The various research reviews provide some guidance with regard to specific methods. Ellis et al. conclude that peer educators and popular opinion leaders are successful components of HIV prevention intervention. Johnson et al. also identify peer education as an effective approach. A Several of the reviews suggest that interventions containing a cognitive element are effective. Particularly appealing to participants in the various studies was the opportunity to become more familiar with the way in which they viewed risk-taking and sexuality in different situations, as well as thinking and behaving in a manner that reduces risk. Incorporating some type of skills training, such as role play, into such interventions appears to further increase their effectiveness.

Several of the reviews also reveal the importance of theoretically grounded prevention methods. Herbst et al. find that diffusion theory and the model of relapse prevention are particularly successful as theoretical frameworks of intervention. The model of relapse prevention is based largely on cognitive theory (for a description of how it is used in treating substance abusers, see Saxon & Wirbing 2004). The findings of the various research reviews about cognitive methods also favour using relapse prevention as a model. However, generally regarding UAI as a kind of relapse from safer sex presents certain difficulties. Research on the sexual behaviour of MSM shows that UAI is generally not to be viewed as a departure from safer sex but rather as a symbol of intimacy and love (Henriksson 1995, Tikkanen 2003). Practitioners who use relapse prevention as a method thus need to identify situations in which men unintentionally depart from their individual approach to sexual risk behaviour. Diffusion theory differs from cognitive theory in that it exami-nes the ways in which innovations spread among groups of people. In other words, diffusion theory operates at more of a social level, whereas cognitive theory focuses on the thinking and behaviour of individuals. Diffusion theory is thus an appropriate framework when planning interventions aimed at hardto-reach groups. For instance, the theory advanced by Rogers (1995) stresses the importance of early innovators, who may be people with status in a community. This suggests a link between diffusion theory and the use of peer educators and popular opinion leaders. These two specific methods largely rely on high-status individuals to spread knowledge within a target group.

The most startling results appear in the two research reviews concerning HIV counselling and testing. The findings of the two reviews diverge with respect to effectiveness. Both an increase and decrease in the frequency of sexual risk behaviour was found following HIV counselling and testing. The

^{14.} Rees et al. do not find evidence that peer education is more successful but say that the results are probably due to difficulties in carrying out the particular studies.

most surprising aspects of the studies are their methodological problems and the lack of additional evidence-based research concerning this highly important type of intervention. Counselling in connection with HIV antibody testing varies in terms of both form and content, neither of which is the subject of a stratified analysis by either Weinhardt et al. or Wolitski et al. As with other HIV prevention interventions, HIV counselling and testing should presumably be theoretically grounded in order to be effective. A reasonable conclusion would thus be that research is needed with regard to development and assessment of HIV prevention intervention in connection with antibody testing.

The meta-analysis performed by Herbst et al. finds no difference in intervention effectiveness with respect to age or educational level. This certainly does not suggest that all interventions work for every subgroup of MSM. The six international research reviews all stress the importance of adapting HIV prevention interventions to the particular needs of various MSM subgroups. Rees et al. go furthest in this discussion. They compare the needs of three selected subgroups with actual interventions and find that most of the needs are not being satisfied. It is particularly noteworthy that no needs related to the supply of health services are being met. A logical conclusion is that research on the needs of MSM is very important and can form the basis of effective HIV prevention interventions adapted to specific subgroups of MSM.

KNOWLEDGE-BASED HIV PREVENTION INTERVENTION FOR MEN WHO HAVE SEX WITH MEN IN SWEDEN

THIS SECTION OF THE REPORT presents various types of publications about Swedish HIV prevention intervention for MSM. No regular meta-analyses or individual evidence-based research have been performed in this area. As a result, a relatively broad search of the available literature was conducted. This report includes articles that either document or assess HIV prevention intervention for Swedish MSM. Choosing articles was sometimes a delicate issue. Because articles that describe the life circumstances or sexual behaviour of MSM provide vital information for HIV prevention efforts, they are crucially important in knowledge-based HIV prevention work. Given that the purpose of this report is to present and discuss evidence-based HIV prevention for MSM, the Swedish research review excludes research that does not clearly focus on HIV prevention efforts. However, some of the articles by actors in the field of HIV prevention for MSM contain a more general discussion and analysis, which is important by virtue of being grounded in experience. To make sure that no important articles were omitted, key actors in the field of Swedish HIV prevention were contacted and asked to comment on the selection.

Articles published in scientific journals

To gain an overview of articles published in scientific journals, the PubMed/Medline and Sociological Abstracts databases were searched. PubMed/Medline covers medicine, as well physical and care sciences. The database contains articles from more than 5 000 scientific journals and publication series. Sociological Abstracts covers sociology and related behavioural-science disciplines. The database contains articles from more than 1 800 scientific journals and publication series.

These two databases provide excellent coverage of the publications in which research on HIV prevention is presented. The databases were systematically searched using "Sweden" plus the following terms: "prevention" (truncated to include all of its inflections), "HIV", "AIDS", "Acquired Immune Deficiency Syndrome", "homosex" (truncated to include all of its inflections) and "gay". The search was broad in that it included titles, summaries and indexed search terms. The articles that concerned HIV prevention interventions for MSM were subsequently selected. A discussion of these articles follows.

Månsson (1990) Psychosocial aspects of HIV testing – the Swedish case. AIDS Care. Vol.2 Issue 1:5-27.

This article contains a critical discussion based on an analysis of Swedish HIV testing policy. The empirical material consists of qualitative interviews with 16 HIV-positive men in southern Sweden. The study focuses on psychosocial aspects of HIV testing: pre-test counselling, the question of anonymity after testing, waiting for and receiving the test result, and "breaking bad news". Månsson finds a lack of psychosocial support at each step of the testing process. He argues that the Swedish approach has involved a control strategy in the sense that the goal has been for as many members of the general population as possible to undergo an HIV antibody test. Governmentbacked information campaigns have emphasised the duty of individual citizens to do so. People may experience notification that they are HIV-positive as betrayal because they feel that they are neglected and subjected to a series of restrictions. Månsson stresses the importance of incorporating a psychosocial perspective into Swedish HIV testing policy. One way of doing so is to actively involve social workers, counsellors, psychologists and related healthcare professionals in the political process of shaping AIDS policy and HIV prevention efforts.

Giesecke, Granath, Ramstedt Ripa, Rådö & Westrell (1991) Effectiveness of partner notification for HIV infection. The Lancet. Vol 338. issue 8775: 1096-1100; Giesecke, Ramstedt, Granath, Ripa, Rådö & Westrell (1992) Partner notification as a tool for research in HIV epidemiology: behavior change, transmission risk and incidence trends. AIDS 6(1):101-108.

These two articles describe and discuss the efficacy of partner notification (contact tracing) with regard to identifying previously undiagnosed HIV-positive people, as well as monitoring the epidemiology of HIV infection. The empirical evidence was based on 365 (91 percent) of all Swedes who

were diagnosed with HIV from 1 January 1989 to 30 June 1990. By means of partner notification, conclusions were drawn about the HIV status of their partners and information was obtained about their sexual practices (such as the frequency of penetrative anal or vaginal intercourse). The analysis in the first article shows that partner notification is effective in detecting undiagnosed HIV infection. The approach identified 53 new cases during the period of the study.

The researchers argue that partner notification is most effective when performed by specially trained counsellors, who have more psychosocial skills and time at their disposal than doctors. The end of the first article maintains that partner notification can also promote prevention among partners found to be HIV-negative by making them aware that they were at risk of infection. Based on the same empirical evidence, the second article examines whether three epidemiological issues associated with HIV can be analysed from data generated by partner notification. The issues are sexual behaviour (such as the number of partners), the risk of HIV transmission due to various sexual practices (such as receptive anal or vaginal intercourse with an HIV-positive partner) and the incidence of HIV.

The researchers find evidence that information generated by partner notification can be used to draw conclusions about the three epidemiological aspects of the HIV epidemic. However, they maintain that the method entails a bias because, like nearly all research concerning sexual behaviour, it is based on data obtained from retrospective interviews about sexual practices. To increase the reliability of the results, standardised forms were employed at the interviews conducted during the period of the study. Using a logistic regression analysis, the researchers compared the risk of HIV transmission posed by various types of sexual practices and concluded that the risk is twice as great for anal intercourse as for vaginal intercourse.

Åsander, Berglund, Persson, Ramstedt (1996) Prevention mot hiv med kontaktspårning. Uppföljning av personer med nydiagnostiserad infektion (HIV prevention with contact tracing. Monitoring people with newly diagnosed infection). Läkartidningen 93: 3907-3910.

This article presents the results of a study that included 109 patients in Stockholm who were diagnosed with HIV in 1994. The counsellors who were in contact with the patients collected information about them and their sexual behaviour. Eighty-nine of the patients were men, more than half of whom had been infected during sex with another man. The authors present background data for the patients participating in the study. The fact that 37 percent of

them had previously tested negative demonstrates the importance of early identification of people who engage in sexual risk behaviour. The article also contains an overall analysis of the contact tracing investigations conducted by the participating counsellors regarding the 109 patients. A comparison showed that the statistics generated by the investigations were more differentiated than those generated by the Swedish Institute for Infectious Disease Control (SMI). The authors conclude that a clearer picture of epidemiological development in Sweden would emerge if data were gathered from a contact tracing programme delegated to specially trained counsellors.

Danziger (1998a) HIV testing for HIV prevention: a comparative analysis of policies in Britain, Hungary and Sweden AIDS Care 10: 563-570; Danziger (1998b) HIV testing and HIV Prevention in Sweden. BMJ: 316: 293-295; Danziger (1999) The social impact of HIV testing: a comparative analysis of Britain and Sweden. Social Science & Medicine 48: 293-300.

These three articles by British researcher Renée Danziger analyse issues relating to Swedish HIV testing policy. One article compares Britain, Hungary and Sweden, while one compares Britain and Sweden. The articles provide no new information for readers who are familiar with Sweden's HIV testing and the Communicable Diseases Act. Their objective is to illuminate, primarily for people outside Sweden, the policy issues raised by HIV testing by comparing the approaches of the different countries. While Swedish and Hungarian policy stress testing as integral to the HIV prevention effort, British policy focuses chiefly on diagnosis as a voluntary measure for the sake of the individual. According to Danziger, the Swedish emphasis on testing for prevention purposes is due to a culture that values the protection of society more than individual rights and freedoms. Danziger maintains that the Communicable Diseases Act places the primary responsibility on HIV-positive people, while the British approach places an equal responsibility on those who do not test positive. She draws no conclusions about whether the Swedish attitude is more successful than others. However, she calls attention to the fact that policy issues have a social dimension, thereby having an impact on the stigma surrounding HIV testing in general and HIV-positive people in particular. The social dimension is key to effective HIV prevention. Danziger thus argues that the effectiveness of HIV counselling and testing and the implications of different approaches must also be analysed at a social level. According to her, that level may end up being neglected when effectiveness evaluations focus exclusively on changes in the risk behaviours of individuals.

Publications by the Swedish National Institute of Public Health

Swedish National Institute of Public Health lists were searched to identify publications describing or assessing HIV prevention intervention for MSM. No publications were found that measure up to the international research reviews presented above with regard to an evidence-based approach. However, a number of the publications are worth mentioning, due either to the assessments they offer or to the vital information they provide on HIV prevention intervention for Swedish MSM.

Var det värt alla pengarna? Utvärdering av hur det särskilda bidraget för HIV-förebyggande insatser använts. Folkhälsoinstitutet utvärderar (Was it worth all the money? Assessment of how the special subsidy for HIV prevention intervention was used. Swedish National Institute of Public Health assesses). 4/1995. Jarlbro.

This report presents an assessment of how the special funding for HIV prevention in 1992-1995 was used. The assessment is based on a review of approved applications, as well as the final reports submitted after the projects were over. To supplement these documents, questionnaires were collected from all HIV coordinators in the metropolitan regions. The investigator establishes that a significant percentage of the grants were used for interventions aimed at young people. These funds largely financed the activities of youth clinics or education on sex and relationships at compulsory or upper secondary level. The investigator finds that the impact of the interventions is difficult to judge due to shortcomings in both documentation and assessment (which is also true of interventions for other target groups). The investigator also points to other flaws that were common to most interventions. For instance, the various projects did not include a situation and target group analysis. The HIV prevention initiatives were thus not adapted to specific needs and sometimes focused on people with whom it was easiest to make contact, possibly excluding groups that were more difficult to reach. Jarlbro does not offer an in-depth discussion of HIV prevention initiatives targeted at MSM.

Säkrare sex. Hur budskapet formuleras. Hur det tolkas. Hur det fungerar (Safer sex. How the message is formulated. How it is interpreted. How it works). Folkhälsoinstitutet Rapport (Swedish National Institute of Public Health Report) 1997:41. Jarlbro & Palm.

This report contains a qualitative analysis of the safer sex messages communicated by HIV prevention efforts. The purpose of the report is to survey and describe the safer sex messages used by various actors in the field of HIV prevention, as well as how the messages are perceived by different target groups and influence their attitudes and behaviour. This discussion focuses on what the report says about the MSM target group. The authors interviewed 60 MSM of various ages. They also examined HIV prevention material compiled from the website of the Swedish Federation for Lesbian, Gay, Bisexual and Transgender Rights (RFSL). The authors conclude that the various actors in the field of HIV prevention are in basic agreement on the messages they communicate about safer sex. However, the authors point out one issue on which views clearly diverge, i.e., the message that should be communicated in terms of the risks associated with unprotected oral sex.

This difference of opinion became evident in the mid-1990s, when several of the actors (including the Noah's Ark – Red Cross Foundation, Swedish National Institute of Public Health and the Swedish National Board of Health and Welfare) published a joint ad urging condom use during oral sex. The mixed message created anxiety and suspicion among MSM. A number of the men interviewed for the report expressed such feelings. The report contains a final chapter on proposed action, which is of interest when effective HIV prevention is being discussed. The authors maintain that safer sex is a norm among MSM and that the messages of actors in the field of HIV prevention should thereby focus on situations in which the norm is disregarded. Furthermore, the messages should be communicated to the target group as close to those situations as possible. In conclusion, the authors argue that messages conveyed by Swedish National Institute of Public Health may be perceived as moralising. This makes it very important for the right person to communicate a message that recipients find credible. The authors call for a joint publication that objectively presents what is known about the risks of HIV transmission during oral sex.

Liv med HIV. Tre studier om hivsmittade och hivnegativa män (Living with HIV. Three studies of HIV-positive and HIV-negative men). Rapport Folkhälsoinstitutet (Swedish National Institute of Public Health Report) 1998:39. Wikström.

The report, a summary by the journalist Tobias Wikström, presents the results of three studies conducted by Mikael Westrell, a counsellor at PH-Center (later Psykhälsan, a psychosocial centre for MSM) in Stockholm. All of the studies based their empirical evidence on visitors to Venhälsan (Venereal Clinic for Homosexual and Bisexual Men). Referred to as Venhälsan Cohort, the first study included 166 patients who were monitored from 1983 to 1993. The purpose of the study was to identify risk factors for developing AIDS. The second study involved a questionnaire survey of more than 200 HIV-positive men at Venhälsan. The purpose of the survey, which was conducted in 1997, was to generate information to be used in improving psychosocial support services aimed at HIV-positive MSM. The third study, a retrospective case note study, examined the case notes of more than 1 000 patients at PH-Center. The purpose of the study was to identify and describe factors relevant to transmission of HIV.

Taken together, the three studies provide key information about MSM and HIV in general, as well as HIV-positive MSM in particular. The report is not equally specific with regard to HIV-prevention intervention. However, the part that discusses psychosocial support for people living with HIV is relevant to prevention issues. The results of the questionnaire survey show that most respondents felt that it is important for health professionals to notify people of their HIV-positive status face to face. The case note study reveals that PH-Center sometimes helped MSM with issues surrounding coming out. According to the case notes, a very large percentage of the patients (regardless of HIV status) said that they had come to PH-Center as the result of relationship problems, the most common being a sense of loneliness. The responses to the questionnaire show that the patients had great confidence in the clinic staff and that its HBT (LGBT) expertise made a positive contribution.

^{15.} Mikael Westrell carried out the study together with Agneta Hansson.

Hivförebyggande arbete i storstadsregionerna (HIV prevention efforts in the metropolitan regions) 1998–1999. Rapport Folkhälsoinstitutet (Swedish National Institute of Public Health Report) 1999:20.

This report results from the remit the Swedish National Institute of Public Health received from the Swedish government in 1998 to survey and analyse HIV prevention efforts in the metropolitan regions. The reason for the specific interest in these regions was the desire to find out what would happen when the special support earmarked for them expired. The analysis was based on outcome data collected by the Swedish National Audit Office/Swedish National Financial Management Authority. Interviews were also conducted with local government and regional representatives, infectious disease specialists and the Director-General of SMI. The report focuses primarily on the structural level, particularly the financial aspects of HIV prevention. It reviews the HIV prevention efforts of the metropolitan regions from different points of view, one of which is MSM. The review is concise and provides no in-depth analyses with respect to effective methods of HIV prevention intervention for MSM.

Utvärdering av sentry.nu – en webbaserad informationskampanj riktad till män som har sex med män (Assessment of sentry.nu – an online information campaign for men who have sex with men). Falkheimer and Palm. FHI 2003:29.

This report contains an assessment of sentry.nu, an online information campaign for MSM. In addition to articles about HIV and other STIs, the website has informational ads in which well-known people talk about safer sex and related issues. The authors of the report assessed the website by means of a questionnaire to which almost 500 people responded. The results of the questionnaire show that visitors to the website felt that they picked up valuable facts. Generally speaking, they thought that the website was user-friendly and that the information about HIV and other STIs was useful. However, the respondents were critical of its design – primarily the popups, which they thought were aggressive and obtrusive. Falkheimer and Palm's concluding discussion suggests more clearly defined objectives for online prevention campaigns. In particular, they propose a greater emphasis on conveying knowledge, i.e., that websites contain factual information and interviews with experts, as well as edutainment. The authors also propose that the target group be more actively involved in designing the websites. Focus groups are an excellent tool in this regard.

Det händer inte mig. En utvärdering av kondomkampanjen sommaren 2003 (It can't happen to me. An assessment of the condom campaign in summer 2003). Falkheimer and Palm. FHI 2004:13;Ticket to ride — vilka följde med på färden? En utvärdering av 2004 års säkrare sex-kampanj (Ticket to ride — who came along? An assessment of the 2004 safer sex campaign). Falkheimer and Wallgren. FHI 2005:2.

These two reports by the Swedish National Institute of Public Health assess the 2003–2004 summer campaigns conducted in collaboration with the Swedish Association of Lesbian, Gay, Bisexual and Transgender Rights (RFSL) and the Swedish Association for Sexuality Education (RFSU). The campaigns had three objectives: to remind young adults to use condoms in order to prevent the transmission of HIV and other STIs, to provide information about HIV and other STIs, and to facilitate discussion of sex and relationships. The assessments were based on an online questionnaire among visitors to the websites associated with the campaigns, interviews with informants, and field studies during which the authors observed and interviewed members of the target groups. The field studies also included interviews with the campaign directors.

Because the reports do not aim to measure the impact of prevention campaigns on the behaviour of individual members of the target groups, they fall somewhat outside the purview of the current discussion. Both reports show favourable results with regard to the objective of reminding young adults to use condoms for the prevention of HIV and other STI transmission. The authors conclude that the campaigns suffered from certain problems in terms of the second objective, providing information about HIV and other STIs. Given that the campaigns did not clearly focus on MSM, the needs and demands (somewhat different from those of young heterosexuals) for information among young members of that group were not sufficiently addressed. Moreover, the websites were not interactive, so that visitors could not ask questions. The authors conclude that the third objective, facilitating discussion of sex and relationships, was not fully met.

Publications by actors in the field of HIV prevention

RFSL is the leading actor with regard to HIV prevention for Swedish MSM. The RFSL website was therefore searched to identify publications describing or assessing HIV prevention intervention for that group. Key people in all regions and metropolitan areas also received questions concerning their assessment of interventions that had been carried out. However, the inquiry

did not identify any additional publications. As in the case of other searches, no strictly empirical publications were found. However, a number of the publications are worth describing, due either to the assessments that they offer or the vital information that they provide about HIV prevention intervention for Swedish MSM. A brief overview of the publications that the search identified is presented below

Säkrare sex. En sammanställning av teorier och studier av sexuella beteenden bland män som har sex med andra män (Safer sex. A summary of theories and studies concerning sexual behaviour among men who have sex with other men). RFSL 1988.

As far back as 1988, RFSL published a summary of theories and studies concerning sexual behaviour among MSM. This report is the result of a grant provided by the Swedish National Board of Health and Welfare to "analyse and submit proposals for changing certain sexual behaviour among homosexual and bisexual men" (RFSL 1988 p. 1). Intended as a source of information to be used by HIV prevention intervention programmes for MSM during the 1990s, the report contains a thoroughgoing sociological discussion of the social constructs associated with sexuality, as well as the way in which the dichotomy of cleanliness vs. filth affects attitudes toward STIs. It also presents international research on changes in sexual behaviour in the wake of the HIV/AIDS epidemic. However, the research review lacks Swedish references. The report concludes with 28 key fundamentals for information about safer sex. Most of the fundamentals (including sexuality as a social and cultural construct and thereby amenable to being affected, sexually affirmative messages, eroticising safer sex, and openness to new methods for communicating with difficult to reach subgroups of MSM) have now been clearly incorporated into the discourse about HIV prevention. Nevertheless, the report contains some conclusions to the effect that Swedish HIV prevention efforts have still not fully implemented. The discussion about social class and HIV prevention is a case in point. According to the report, U.S. studies have shown that people from upper social groups are more likely to alter their sexual behaviour than those from lower social groups. The presumed reason is that HIV prevention interventions for MSM have been designed in a way that appeals to and reaches educated middle-class men. The report concludes that efforts to design information for MSM face a serious challenge.

Från 0 till 91 %. En studie bland homo-och bisexuella kvinnor och män i Malmö (From 0 to 91%. A study among homosexual and bisexual women and men in Malmö). Andersson. RFSL-rådgivningen Skåne 1998.

Published by RFSL-rådgivningen Skåne (RFSL counselling in southern Sweden) in 1999, this report report concentrates on the results of a survey concerning the risk behaviours and safer sex strategies of homosexual and bisexual women and men. It does not focus on assessing HIV prevention interventions. However, the author discusses the relevance of the information obtained from the survey to future HIV prevention efforts. Some of the conclusions that appear in the final discussion are discussed below. The results of the survey show that safer sex is a common strategy for preventing HIV transmission. On the other hand, men neglect condom use in certain situations, primarily with steady partners. The results also show that men are most likely to neglect safer sex practices when they are at home, whether in stable or casual relationships.

The above conclusion serves as a reminder that men most often depart from safer sex strategies in the very place it is most difficult for prevention efforts to reach. The report also finds that men with poor self-esteem tend to use condoms less consistently. The author concludes that efforts aimed at strengthening the self-identity of homosexual and bisexual men are important. The author ends by stressing that health promotion has both personal and political aspects. The health problems experienced by homosexual and bisexual men are associated with the oppression of non-heterosexual members of society.

Rubberware – Ett förebyggande projekt i Malmö om säkrare sex bland män som har sex med män (Rubberware – A prevention project in Malmö for safer sex among men who have sex with men). Eriksson & Knutsson RFSL-rådgivningen Malmö 1990.

This report, containing both description and assessment, describes a project carried out in southern Sweden in the early 1990s. The purpose of the project was to develop a new method of safer sex education. The objective of the method was to set in motion a process within each individual that would change his sexual behaviour and make it safer with respect to HIV prevention. Another goal was to establish the concept of safer sex as a practical, appealing alternative to unsafe sex. The project used home parties (rubberware) based on the Tupperware model. A man or couple would invite their male friends to a simple dinner, which RFSL information providers also

attended. Sexually oriented videos were shown and discussed. Instruction on condom and lubricant use was also provided. The guests could try it out on a dildo. The idea of the parties was to take advantage of established social networks to communicate with men who are ordinarily difficult to reach with information about HIV prevention. Furthermore, the hope was that the discussion about sexuality in general and HIV in particular would continue after the RFSL representative had left.

The report also contains a short evaluation by the participants. Among the results of the evaluation were that a large percentage of the men had never received instruction concerning HIV/AIDS issues before. The survey also showed that the great majority of them learned something from the rubberware parties. More than a quarter of the respondents said that the party had influenced their subsequent sexual behaviour, although it is difficult to say exactly how. A number of the men reported having a more relaxed view of sexuality after the intervention.

Säkrare sex©RFSL. 15 års sexualpolitik för maximal hivprevention bland män som har sex med män (Safer sex©RFSL. 15 years of sexual policy for maximum HIV prevention among men who have sex with men). RFSL 1999.

This report, produced by RFSL, describes the evolution of its HIV prevention effort. The report provides an historical perspective concerning the reliance of effective HIV prevention on assertive sexual policy, as well as the way that an affirmative and non-judgemental message is grounded in an overall approach to sexuality and prevention. The publication presents the five principles on which RFSL's HIV prevention effort is based: supporting a secure sexual identity, affirming sexuality and desire, providing non-judgemental prevention, offering realistic messages, and sharing responsibility between HIVpositive and HIV-negative people. The final chapter of the report summarises the lessons learned in the 15 years that RFSL had been involved in HIV prevention intervention for MSM. The discussion stresses the importance of expertise about, along with knowledge concerning the role of sexuality in, male homosexual culture. According to the report, the fact that the prevention effort had historically been rooted in RFSL as a popular movement could prove instructive for other groups as well. Being a popular movement, RFSL commanded greater respect throughout society and was consequently freer to shape and influence HIV prevention initiatives for MSM – not to mention the legitimacy that it achieved among members of the target group.

Sexualiteten som metod. RFSL-rådgivningen Skåne ur ett verksamhetsteoretiskt perspektiv (Sexuality as a method. RFSL counselling in southern Sweden from a theoretical perspective). Knutagård. RFSL-rådgivningen Skåne Rapportserie 2000:1.

This report describes the HIV prevention effort of RFSL counselling in southern Sweden in general and its Komikondom campaign in particular. The author discusses the philosophical foundation of both the counselling provided by and the practical approach of the organisation. This is done through the use of specific theoretical concepts, such as imagination, creativity and zone of proximal development. The report shows how successful HIV prevention counselling uses sexuality as a method. More specifically, this involves looking at things through the eyes of the target group and including it in each phase of the effort. It also means viewing sexuality as a constructive force that can improve and strengthen the effectiveness of HIV prevention intervention when based on creative imagination.

There are several reasons why the report is relevant to a discussion about effective HIV prevention. It shows how a campaign can be made up of various components, each of which has a well-considered relationship to the whole. As reflected by the coherence of different parts of the Komikondom campaign, the report also demonstrates the importance of a scrupulously constructed theoretical and philosophical framework for HIV prevention efforts. The final discussion stresses the necessity of an appropriate theory: "Finding a theory that generates a productive framework for the intuitive effort proves very useful. The theory can structure intuition in a way that makes it manageable and amenable to improvement. Such a frame of reference is therefore vital to the design and development of HIV prevention intervention" (p. 56).

iKurator – RFSL:s kuratorer på nätet. Ett pilotprojekt från RFSL (iKurator – RFSL's online counsellors. A pilot project). Eriksson RFSL-rådgivningen Skåne 2003.

This publication is the final report of a pilot project financed by the Swedish National Institute of Public Health. The purpose of the project was to address geographic inequalities in access to RFSL's counselling services. An online counsellor service (iKurator) that allowed questioners to remain anonymous was launched in late 2002. After consent was obtained from each anonymised questioner, the questions and answers were published on the website. The questions were generally answered within 48 hours by counsellors at one of

RFSL's centres in Sweden. Most of the questions concerned relationships, homosexuality, bisexuality, sexuality in general and STIs.

The contacts established through iKurator demonstrate a major need for RFSL's counselling expertise outside the metropolitan regions on which it normally focuses. The fact that the questioners tended to distrust other support initiatives in their local communities makes a service like iKurator all the more important. The report finds that questions from people outside the metropolitan regions were more likely to reveal a sense of hopelessness and reflect an inadequate social network among homosexuals. The conclusion drawn in the report is that iKurator has major development potential by virtue of the ease with which technical innovations can be employed to improve the service. Furthermore, iKurator can be used to conduct quick surveys concerning the needs of the target group.

Hiv/STI, förebyggande arbete tillsammans med video- och bastuklubbar, samlade erfarenheter (HIV/STIs, prevention intervention in collaboration with video clubs and gay saunas, cumulative experience). RFSL 2006.

The purpose of this publication is to present the cumulative experience of HIV prevention interventions in Scandinavia during the 1990s and early 2000s. The publication is aimed particularly at local actors in the field of HIV prevention who want to establish collaboration with owners of video clubs and public sex venues (PSVs such as video clubs and gay saunas/health clubs). An historical retrospective is combined with practical advice on establishing collaboration that promotes HIV prevention. The report presents the fundamentals of RFSL's HIV prevention efforts, as well as the specific tools that may be used to provide video clubs and sauna clubs with information, condoms and lubricants. An attachment contains the draft of a collaborative agreement between parlour/club owners and actors in the field of HIV prevention.

Säkrare sex i sexfrekventa kommersiella lokaler – för män som har sex med män (Safer sex in public sex venues – for men who have sex with men). Knutagård and Eriksson. RFSL-rådgivningen Skåne Rapportserie 2006:1.

This report, which results from cooperation between the RFSL advisory service in southern Sweden and Region Skåne, presents the results of an ethnographic study of public sex venues (PSV) in southern Sweden, Copenhagen and Stockholm. The purpose of the study is to identify the opportunities that such premises offer for safer sex in the form of condoms, lubricants and

information. The report also discusses the prospects for improving prevention efforts at such venues. The systematic ethnographic analysis reveals differences between Denmark and Sweden, the most significant of which is that condoms and lubricants are readily available in Denmark. Danish venues are also more suited for sexual interaction (availability of bunks, etc.).

The authors conclude that the Swedish law prohibiting gay saunas proved counterproductive in terms of the prospects for promoting prevention at PSVs. Although the law was repealed in July 2004, its impact is still reverberating. According to the report, "The law interrupted the development of methods and collaboration for 17 years. We cannot immediately resume the interventions and proceed from the level where Sweden was before 1997, or adopt strategies designed by neighbouring countries over a long period of time. Collaboration and development of intervention methods need to start from square one" (p. 25). The authors also argue that such collaboration must involve everyone, including visitors, owners and staff. They maintain that the development of effective prevention efforts at such premises must be broken down into various interim objectives, the first of which is to ensure that condoms, lubricants and information are available. The next step is to promote dialogue and the dissemination of information by taking advantage of the potential for creative innovation offered by both sexuality and such venues.

Summary and reflections on the Swedish research review

Identifying and reading publications about Swedish HIV prevention intervention for MSM was an enlightening process. The publications reveal the evolution of such efforts over a period of more than two decades. It should be added that there have been many more innovative projects for MSM than are described in this report. The problem is that those projects have not been documented and assessed, a shortcoming which will be dealt with in the concluding discussion that looks ahead and proposes new initiatives.

A review of what scientific journals have published about Swedish HIV prevention intervention for MSM yields relatively little. The publications that are available focus on either HIV antibody testing or contact tracing. Such publications stress the psychosocial aspects of prevention intervention. Researchers emphasise the importance of using the expertise of social workers in the healthcare system for prevention efforts in connection with HIV testing (or contact tracing that includes such testing). This observation can be related to the previous discussion about the role of counselling. Social wor-

kers have the skills to enable them to work at the individual, group and structural level alike. As a result, they are integral to the development and implementation of innovative prevention methods linked to HIV testing.

The scientific publications about Swedish HIV prevention efforts are striking for their lack of any description of the collaboration between research and prevention in practice. No articles in scientific journals monitor or measure the impact of HIV prevention interventions in Sweden.

Nevertheless, both the Swedish National Institute of Public Health and RFSL offer documentation and some assessment of HIV prevention interventions. Such documentation, which is very important, should be expanded to include collaboration between researchers and actors in the field of HIV prevention. The impact of initiatives that have already been carried out should be measured. This would allow the presentation of the results of Swedish HIV prevention in an international scientific context.

Swedish HIV prevention efforts are creative and capture the currents of the time. RFSL serves as an excellent illustration in this respect. A perusal of the interventions described in international research reviews reveals that RFSL's initiatives have maintained the same high level of quality and should consequently appear in international scientific studies concerning impact on sexual risk behaviour. Publications by RFSL counselling in southern Sweden also show that a theoretical perspective benefits prevention interventions by forging an overall context within which the relationship and interaction of their various components may be explained. This is fully consistent with what the international research reviews say about the importance of constructing a theoretical framework and designing multi-component interventions.

CONCLUDING SUMMARY

THIS SECTION SUMS UPTHE FINDINGS of this report and relates the results of the six international research reviews to Swedish circumstances.

The results of the international research reviews may be summarised as follows:

- Group-level interventions are particularly effective.
- Multi-component interventions are more effective than single-component interventions.
- Multi-session interventions, or single-session interventions that last for at least four hours (such as a half-day workshop), are most effective. Furthermore, extending the time between group sessions and the like leads to more successful interventions.
- The inclusion of peer educators and popular opinion leaders is a successful component of HIV prevention intervention.
- Interventions containing a cognitive element generate favourable results.
- Skills training, such as role play, lead to more effective interventions.
- A theoretical framework, especially diffusion of innovation and model of relapse prevention, contributes to more effective interventions.
- The effectiveness of HIV counselling and testing is unclear. The results are contradictory. Additional research and methodological development are needed.
- Research on the needs of men who have sex with men (MSM) is very important and can form the basis of effective HIV prevention interventions adapted to specific subgroups of MSM.

The above conclusions are drawn from international research concerning effective HIV prevention. Whether they are applicable to Swedish circumstances should be explored and discussed. The value of ongoing research cannot be overemphasised. Research is needed on the needs and behaviour patterns of MSM, as well as the impact of specific interventions on sexual risk-taking.

The results of the latest survey of sexual behaviour and needs among Swedish MSM reveal an extensive need for HIV prevention interventions, particularly among those who are young (Tikkanen et al. 2006). In terms of

the need for knowledge about HIV, other STIs and safer sex, the differences are greatest between the youngest men and others. Fifty percent of the youngest respondents say that they have insufficient information about HIV and other STIs. HIV prevention interventions consequently have a large knowledge gap to fill. The responses to the questionnaire also reveal the necessity for MSM to learn more about communicating with their sexual partners concerning their HIV status. Men younger than 26 have the greatest need. Forty percent of them say that they know too little about how to ask their partner about his HIV status. Such communication needs may be linked to the results of the international research reviews in terms of skills training and group-level interventions. A group-level intervention is an effective means of teaching people how to communicate about their HIV status. Along with skills training, such interventions can also supply some of the information about relationships, heteronormativity and coming out issues that the respondents to the questionnaire say they lack (see Tikkanen et al. 2006 for the exact statistics on these needs).

The 2006 questionnaire for MSM also asks the respondents what kinds of interventions they would like to have or they want to remain available. An analysis revealed four underlying, interrelated factors: access to information about health services specifically designed for MSM, access to counselling and psychosocial services, access to condoms and lubricants at places where MSM meet, and home delivery of condoms and lubricants. The first two factors are relevant to a discussion of the results of the six international research reviews. With regard to the first factor, the analysis found that there is a greater demand for online than traditional hardcopy information. Moreover, some of the men who prefer online information would rather communicate with an expert on the Internet as well. This is an indication that a group of MSM needs online information and counselling. In other words, the Internet would appear to be a key channel for the development of successful prevention methods. It is noteworthy that the six international research reviews include no specific discussion about effective online interventions considering the popularity of the Internet among MSM. However, the Swedish research review identified one online intervention (iKurator). Similar interventions should be designed and assessed.

The 2006 questionnaire for MSM also revealed a widespread need for a health clinic addressing the needs of homosexual and bisexual men. More than half of the respondents said that they would like to have access to such a service. With that in mind, HIV testing provides an opportunity for successful intervention. An analysis of the responses to the question about what services

were offered in connection with the most recent HIV test identified two underlying, interrelated factors: counselling and additional STI testing or hepatitis vaccination. ¹⁶ A variance analysis shows that special MSM clinics are best at offering such supplemental services. Health centres and other hospitals are poorest in this regard.

A cautious conclusion from the above observations is that HIV testing services vary according to where they are offered. This is particularly hard on MSM in non-metropolitan regions where special MSM clinics are not available. New opportunities are therefore needed to take advantage of HIV testing to offer various kinds of interventions, as well as to disseminate information to health centres and hospitals where such testing is available. Special MSM clinics can play a key role as models in this regard. Furthermore, HIV prevention interventions that can be provided in connection with testing should be subject to assessment and methodological development.

The respondents to the MSM questionnaire expressed less of a need for access to group-level counselling and psychosocial interventions. Just over ten percent stated that they would like the opportunity to participate in group discussions about sexuality and health. Approximately the same percentage would consider attending group training. Though apparently low, these figures point to a genuine interest among some men. Participating in a discussion group may be an alien concept for some people and initially feel unfamiliar. Such attitudes may shift over time depending on the success of previous interventions and how favourable experiences are communicated by others.

A diffusion model (see Rogers 1995) is suitable in this connection, i.e., focusing initial interventions on "*early innovators*" so that they can become spokesmen for the new methods. As a result, more men will ultimately cross the threshold to participating in group sessions.

The general impression conveyed by the review is that Swedish HIV prevention is innovative and captures the currents of the time. The Swedish effort consequently needs to be more visible in international research. Swedish intervention will thereby not only gain status and recognition but become more rooted in the scientific approach. For instance, assessments will begin to include outcome measurements. But the formulation of such measurements is a difficult question. Simply determining the frequency of UAI without placing it in context is a blunt tool for assessing successful intervention. Gauging effectiveness on a quantitative basis only is too limiting.

44

^{16.} The results of the analysis are preliminary and unpublished.

The systematic reviews described in this report yield just as much information. Nevertheless, meta-analyses lend credence to evidence-based conclusions. To be suitable for inclusion in meta-analyses, Swedish studies must be reported in a particular way. The recommendation of this report is that those who publish Swedish research on HIV prevention intervention take account of these requirements.

BIBLIOGRAPHY

- Andersson 1998) Från 0 till 91 %. *En studie bland homo- och bisexuella kvinnor och män i Malmö*. RFSL-rådgivningen Skåne.
- Amirkhanian YA, Kelly JA, Kabakchieva E, et al. (2003) Evaluation of a social network HIV prevention intervention program for young men who have sex with men in Russia and Bulgaria. *AIDS Educ Prev.*, 15, 205–220.
- Bergmark A. (2005) Att sammanställa kunskap om översikter, metaanalyser och kritiska perspektiv. Published in Larsson, Lilja & Mannheimer (ed.) *Forskningsmetoder i socialt arbete*. Lund: Studentlitteratur.
- Catania J.A., Turner H., Pierce R.C., Golden E., Stocking C., Binson D., Mast K. (1993) Re-sponse Bias in Surveys of AIDS-Related Sexual Behavior. Published in *Methodological Issues in AIDS Behavioral Research Ostrow* D.G., Kessler R.C. (ed.). New York: Plenum Press.
- Centrum för utvärdering av socialt arbete http://www.sos.se/socialtj/cus/metaandef.htm [2007-02-11]
- Choi KH, Lew S, Vittinghoff E, et al. (1996) The efficacy of brief group counseling in HIV risk reduction among homosexual Asian and Pacific Islander men. *AIDS*, 10, 8–87.
- Coates TJ, McKusick L, Kuno R, et al. (1989) Stress reduction training changed number of sexual partners but not immune function in men with HIV. *Am J Public Health*, 79, 885–887.
- Coates TJ, Morin SF, McCusick L.(1987) Behavioral consequences of AIDS antibody testing among gay men. *JAMA*, 258, 1889.
- Dawson J, Fitzpatrick R, McLean J et al. (1991)The HIV test and sexual behaviour in a sample of homosexual active men. *Social science and Medicine*, 32, 683–688.
- Dilley JW, Woods WJ, Sabatino J, et al. (2002a) Changing sexual behavior among gay male repeat testers for HIV: a randomized, controlled trial of a single-session intervention. *J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr.*, 30, 177–186.
- Doll L, O'Malley PM, Pershing AL et al. (1990) High-risk sexual behavior and knowledge of HIV antibody status in the San Francisco city clinic cohort. *Health Psychol.*, 9, 253–265.
- Elford J, Graham B, Sherr L. (2001) Peer education has no significant impact on HIV risk behaviours among gay men in London. *AIDS*, 15, 535–538.

- Ellis S, Barnett-Page E, Morgan A¹⁷, et al. (2003) *HIV Prevention: A Review of Reviews Assessing the Effectiveness of Interventions to Reduce Sexual Risk of HIV Transmission*. London: Health Development Agency.
- Falkheimer & Palm (2003) *Utvärdering av sentry.nu en webbaserad infor-mationskampanj riktad till män som har sex med män.* FHI 2003:29.
- Falkheimer & Palm (2004) Det händer inte mig. En utvärdering av kondomkampanjen sommaren 2003. FHI 2004:13
- Falkheimer & Wallgren (2005) Ticket to ride vilka följde med på färden? En utvärdering av 2004 års säkrare sex-kampanj. FHI 2005:2
- Flowers P, Hart GJ, Williamson LM, et al. (2002) Does bar-based, peer-led sexual health promotion have a community-level effect amongst gay men in Scotland? *Int J STD AIDS*, 13, 102–108.
- Forsberg M (2007) Sexuell hälsa bland ungdomar internationella och svenska erfarenheter av förebyggande arbete. Socialstyrelsen och Malmö högskola.
- Fox R, Odaka NJ, Brookmeier R, et al. (1987) Effect of HIV antibody disclosure on subsequent sexual activity in homosexual men. *AIDS*, 1, 241–246.
- Gold RS & Skinner MJ. (1992) Situational factors and thought processes associated with unprotected intercourse in young gay men. *AIDS*, 6, 1021–1030.
- Gold RS, Rosenthal DA. (1995) Preventing unprotected anal intercourse in gay men: a comparison of two intervention techniques. *Int J STD AIDS*, 6, 89–94.
- Gold RS, Rosenthal DA. (1998) Examining self-justifications for unsafe sex as a technique of AIDS education: the importance of personal relevance. *Int J STD AIDS*, 9, 208–213.
- Goldbaum GM, Johnson W, Wolitski RJ, et al. (1999) Sexual behavior change among non gay-identified men who have sex with men: Response to a community-level intervention. (unpublished).
- Henriksson B (1995) *Risk Factor Love. Homosexuality, sexual interaction and HIV prevention.* Göteborgs universitet, institutionen för socialt arbete. Skriftserien.
- Herbst J., Sherba R., Crepaz N. et al. (2005) A Meta-Analytic Review of HIV Behavioral Interventions for Reducing Sexual Risk Behavior of Men who have Sex with Men. *J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr*, 39, 228–241.
- Honnen TJ, Kleinke CL (1990) Prompting bar patrons with signs to take free condoms. *Journal of Applied Behaviour Analysis*, 23, 295–299.
- Huggins J, Elman N, Baker C et al. (1991) Affective and behavioral responses of gay and bisexual men to HIV antibody testing. *Social Work*, 36, 61–66.

- Imrie J, Stephenson JM, Cowan FM, et al. (2001) A cognitive behavioural intervention to reduce sexually transmitted infections among gay men: randomised trial. *BMJ*, 1, 1451–1456.
- Jarlbro G (1995) Var det värt alla pengarna? Utvärdering av hur det särskilda bidraget för HIV-förebyggande insatser använts. Folkhälsoinstitutet utvärderar 4/1995.
- Johnson W., Hedges L., Ramirez G. 18 (2002) HIV Prevention Research for Men who have Sex with Men: A Systematic Review and Meta-analysis. *J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr*, 30, S 118–S 129.
- Kegeles SM. & Hart GJ (1998) Recent HIV-Prevention interventions for gay men: individual, small-group and community-based studies. AIDS, 12 (suppl A), S209–S215.
- Kegeles SM, Rebchook GM, Hays RB, et al. (2002) *Staving off increases in young gay/bisexual men's risk behavior in the HAARTera*. Presented at: XIV International AIDS Conference; 2002; Barcelona.
- Kegeles SM, Hays R. Coates T. et al.(1996) The Mpowerment Project: a community-level HIV prevention intervention for young gay men. *Am J Public Health*, 86, 1129–1136.
- Kelly J., St. Lawrence J., Hood H. et al. (1989) Behavioral intervention to reduce AIDS risk activities. *J Consult Clin Psychol.*, 57, 60–67.
- Kelly J., St. Lawrence J., Diaz Y. et al. (1991) HIV risk behavior reduction following intervention with key opinion leaders of population: an experimental analysis. *Am J Public Health*, 8, 168–171.
- Kelly JA, Murphy DA, Bahr GR, et al. (1993) Outcome of cognitive behavioral and support group brief therapies for depressed, HIV-infected persons. *Am J Psychiatry*, 150, 1679–1686.
- Kelly JA, Kalichman SC, Rompa DJ. (1996) Outcomes of a randomized intervention trial to promote consistent HIV risk reduction behavior change maintenance in an ethnically-diverse cohort of gay and bisexual men. Int Conf AIDS. 1996 (abstract no. We.C.3497).
- Kelly JA, Murphy DA, Sikkema KJ, et al. (1997) Randomised, controlled, community-level HIV-prevention intervention for sexual-risk behaviour among homosexual men in US cities. *Lancet*, 350, 1500–1505.
- Knutagård (2000) Sexualiteten som metod. RFSL-rådgivningen Skåne ur ett verksamhetsteoretiskt perspektiv. RFSL-Rådgivningen Skåne rapportserie 2000:1.
- Knutagård och Eriksson (2006) *Säkrare sex i sexfrekventa kommersiella lokaler för män som har sex med män*. RFSL-rådgivningen Skåne Rapportserie 2006:1.

- Miller RL. (1995) Assisting gay men to maintain safer sex: an evaluation of an AIDS service organization's safer sex maintenance program. *AIDS Educ Prev.*, 7, 48–63.
- Miller RL, Klotz D, Eckholdt HM. (1998) HIV prevention with male prostitutes and patrons of hustler bars: replication of an HIV preventive intervention. *Am J Community Psychol.*, 26, 97–131.
- Månsson S.A. (1990) Psychosocial aspects of HIV testing the Swedish case. *AIDS Care*, 2: 5-27.
- Oakley, A., Oliver, S., Peersman, G. et al. (1996). *Review of Effectiveness of Health Promotion Interventions for Men who have Sex with Men.* London: Institute of Education, Social Science Research Unit, EPPI-Centre.
- Ostrow DG, Joseph JG, Kessler R, et al. (1989) Disclosure of HIV antibody status: behavioral and mental health correlates. *AIDS Educ Prev.*, 1, 1–11.
- Peterson JL, Coates TJ, Catania J, et al. (1996) Evaluation of an HIV risk reduction intervention among African-American homosexual and bisexual men. *AIDS*, 10, 319–325.
- Picciano J, Roffman R, Kalichman S, et al. (2001) A telephone based brief intervention using motivational enhancement to facilitate HIV risk reduction among MSM: a pilot study. *AIDS Behav.*, 5, 251–262.
- Rees R., Kavanagh J., Burchett H. et al. 19 (2004) HIV Health promotion and men who have sex with men (MSM): A systemativ review of research relevant to the devlopment of and implementation of effective and appropriate interventions. London: EPPI-centre, Social Science Research Unit, Institute of Education, University of London.
- Remafedi G. (1994) Cognitive and behavioral adaptations to HIV/AIDS among gay and bisexual adolescents. *J Adolesc Health*, 15, 142–148.
- RFSL (1988) Säkrare sex. En sammanställning av teorier och studier av sexuella beteenden blan män som har sex med andra män. RFSL: Stockholm.
- RFSL (1999) Säkrare sex©RFSL. 15 års sexualpolitik för maximal hivprevention bland män som har sex med män. RFSL 1999.
- RFSL (2006) *Hiv/STI*, förebyggande arbete tillsammans med video- och bastuklubbar, samlade erfarenheter. RFSL 2006.
- Rogers EM (1995) *Diffusion of Innovations*. 4th edition. New York: Free Press.
- Roffman RA, Kalichman SC, Kelly JA et al. (1995) HIV antibody testing of gay men in smaller U.S. cities. *AIDS Care*, 7, 405–413.
- Roffman RA, Picciano JF, Ryan R, et al. (1997) HIV-prevention group counseling delivered by telephone: an efficacy trial with gay and bisexual men. *AIDS Behav.*, 1, 137–154.

- Roffman RA, Stephens RS, Curtin L, et al. (1998) Relapse prevention as an interventive model for HIV risk reduction in gay and bisexual men. *AIDS Educ Prev.*, 10, 1–18.
- Rosser BRS. (1990) Evaluation of the efficacy of AIDS education interventions for homosexually active men. *Health Educ Res.*, 5, 299–308.
- Rosser BRS.(1991) The effects of using fear in public AIDS education on the behaviour of homosexually active men. *J Psychol Human Sex.*, 4, 123–134.
- Rosser BRS, Bockting WO, Rugg DL, et al. (2002) A randomized controlled intervention trial of a sexual health approach to long-term HIV risk reduction for men who have sex with men: effects of the intervention on unsafe sexual behavior. *AIDS Educ Prev.*, 14, 59–71.
- Sampaio M, Brites C, Stall R, et al. (2002) Reducing AIDS risk among men who have sex with men in Salvador, Brazil. *AIDS Behav.*, 6, 173–181.
- Saxon L & Wirbing P (2004) Återfallsprevention. Färdighetsträning vid missbruk och beroende av alkohol, narkotika och läkemedel. Lund: Studentlitteratur.
- Schechter MT, Craib KJP, Willoughby B, et al. (1988) Patterns of sexual behavior and condom use in a cohort of homosexual men. *Am J Public Health.*, 78, 1535–1538.
- Shepherd J, Weare K, Turner G (1997) Peer-led sexual health promotion with young gay and bisexual men results of the HAPEER Project. *Health Education*, 204, 212.
- Shepherd J (1997) *Peer-led Sexual Health Promotion Work with Young Gay and Bisexual Men A Practical Guide*. Southampton: University of Southampton.
- Shoptaw S, Reback CJ, Peck J, et al. (2005) Behavioral treatment approaches for methamphetamine dependence and HIV-related sexual risk behaviors among urban gay and bisexual men. *Drug Alcohol Depend.*, 78, 125–134.
- Stall RD, Paul JP, Barrett DC, et al. (1999) An outcome evaluation to measure changes in sexual risk-taking among gay men undergoing substance use disorder treatment. *J Stud Alcohol.*, 60, 837–845.
- Tikkanen (2003) *Risky Business? En sociosexuell studie av män som har sex med män*. Akademisk avhandling. Institutionen för socialt arbete. Göteborgs universitet.
- Tikkanen, Månsson, Daneback & Eriksson (2006) *MSM-enkäten 2006 en översiktlig resultatpresentation*. Malmö högskola. Hälsa och samhälle.
- Toro-Alfonso J, Varas-Diaz N, Andujar-Bello I. (2002) Evaluation of an HIV/AIDS prevention intervention targeting Latino gay men and men who have sex with men in Puerto Rico. *AIDS Educ Prev.*, 14, 445–456.

- Tudiver F, Myers T, Kurtz RG, et al.(1992) The Talking Sex Project: results of a randomized controlled trial of small-group AIDS education for 612 gay and bisexual men. *Eval Health Prof.*, 15, 26–42.
- Valdiserri RO, Lyter DW, Leviton LC, et al. (1989) AIDS prevention in homosexual and bisexual men: results of a randomized trial evaluating two risk reduction interventions. *AIDS*, 3, 21–26.
- van Griensven GJ, de Vroom; EM, Tielman RA, et al. (1989) Effect of human immunodeficiency virus (HIV) antibody knowledge on high-risk sexual behavior with steady and nonsteady sexual partners among homo-sexual men. *Am J Epidemiol.*,129, 596–603.
- Weinhardt L., Carey M., Johnson B.et al.²⁰ (1999) Effects of HIV Counseling and Testing on Sexual Risk Behavior: A Meta-Analytic Review of Published Research, 1985-1997. *American Journal of Public Health*, 89, 1397–1405.
- Wolinski RF, Mac Gowan RJ, Higgins DL et al. (1997) The Effects of HIV Counseling and Testing on Risk-Related Practices and Help-Seeking Behavior. *AIDS Educ. and Prev.*, 9 Supplement B, 52–67.
- Zapka J, Erickson B, Fox R et al. (1991) HIV antibody test result knowledge, risk perceptions and behavior among homosexually active men. *Patient Education and Counselling*, 18, 9–17.
- Zimmerman MA, Ramirez-Valles J, Suarez E, et al. (1997) An HIV/AIDS prevention project for Mexican homosexual men: an empowerment approach. *Health Educ Behav.*, 24, 177–190.

APPENDIX I.ARTICLES INCLUDED IN THE SIX INTERNATIONAL RESEARCH REVIEWS

	Intervention described in article	Herbst	Johnson	Wolitski	Weinhart	Ellis	Rees
Amirkhanian et al. (2003)	Social Network Leader Training Program: Training of social leaders to inform about and discuss HIV and safer sex with others in their social network.	×					
Choi et al. (1996)	API Living Well Project: training and group discussions about HIV, safer sex and ethnic identity among Asian MSM.	×	×			×	
Coates et al. (1989)	Various types of group-level stress management exercises.	×	×				
Coates et al. (1987)	HIV counselling and testing.				×		
Dawson et al. (1991)	HIV counselling and testing			×			
Dilley et al. (2002)	Counselling that focused on the relationship between behaviour and cognition. The participants also kept sex diaries that they reflected about.	×					×
Doll et al. (1990)	HIV counselling and testing.				×		

	Intervention described in article	Herbst	Johnson	Wolitski	Weinhart	Ellis	Rees
Elford et al. (2001)	The 4 gym project: peer educators were recruited to deliver HIV risk reduction messages to MSM gym members.	×					×
Flowers et al. (2002)	Gay Men 's Task Force: peer education, special medical services for MSM, and information over a telephone hotline.	×					×
Fox et al. (1987)	HIV counselling and testing.				×		
Gold and Rosenthal (1995)	The participants kept sex diaries of occasions on which they broke their own rules on safer sex.	×				×	
Gold and Rosenthal (1998)	The participants kept sex diaries of occasions on which they broke their own rules on safer sex.	×					×
Goldbaum et al. (1999)	AIDS Community Demonstration Project outreach and distribution of condoms.	×					

Rees			×			
Ellis	×				×	×
Weinhart		×				
Wolitski		×				
Johnson					×	×
Herbst			×	×	×	×
Intervention described in article	Posters and information at bars about condoms and how many people had been infected with HIV.	HIV counselling and testing.	A one-day workshop focusing on the relationship between cognition and sexual behaviour.	Outreach, including information about safer sex, group-level peer education for young gay men, plus a publicity campaign.	Mpowerment Project: outreach, including information about safer sex, group-level peer education for young gay men, a special meeting place for young gay men (community centre) and a publicity campaign.	Instruction about HIV and AIDS combined with exercises that focused on the relationship between cognition and behaviour.
	Honnen and Kleinke (1990)	Huggins et al. (1991)	Imrie et al. (2001)	Kegeles et al. (2002)	Kegeles et al. (1996)	Kelly et al. (1989)

	Intervention described in article	Herbst	Johnson	Wolitski	Weinhart	Ellis	Rees
Kelly et al. (1991)	Popular opinion leaders were used in a campaign at bars and clubs.	×	×			×	
Kelly et al. (1993)	Milwaukee AIDS Project group sessions that focused on cognition and behaviour, as well as participation in a social support group.	×					
Kelly et al. (1996)	One-day workshop focusing on relationships and sexual risk behaviour at their various stages.					×	
Kelly et al. (1997)	Popular opinion leaders were trained in talking with men about safer sex at bars and clubs.	×	×			×	
Miller (1995)	Keep It Up: workshop to prevent men from breaking their own rules on safer sex (relapse).	×	×				
Miller et al. (1998)	Hustler Bar Project: popular opinion leaders were informed about risk management strategies in bars frequented by men who sell sex to other men.	×					

Rees			×			
Ellis		×				
Weinhart	×					
Wolitski					×	
Johnson		×				
Herbst		×	×	×		×
Intervention described in article	HIV counselling and testing.	Group-level intervention, including three sessions focusing on cognition and behaviour as well as practical exercises in negotiating safer sex.	The Sex Check Up: telephone counselling session.	University of Minnesota Youth and AIDS Project: peer education and individualised counselling.	HIV counselling and testing.	Project ARIES: group sessions and individualised prevention counselling via telephone focusing on situations in which men had broken their own rules on safer sex (relapse).
	Ostrow et al. (1989)	Peterson et al. (1996)	Picciano et al. (2001)	Remafedi (1994)	Roffman et al. (1995)	Roffman et al. (1997)

	Intervention described in article	Herbst	Johnson	Wolitski	Weinhart	Ellis	Rees
Roffman et al. (1998)	Group-level intervention, including three sessions focusing on cognition and behaviour, as well as practical exercises in negotiating safer sex.	×					
Rosser (1990)	Counselling after the participant had watched a video with a safer sex message.	×					
Rosser (1991)	Grim Reaper Public AIDS Campaign: fear-based public education campaign (including television and cinema ads).	×					
Rosser et al. (2002)	Two-day seminar on sexual health and communicating about sexuality.	×					×
Sampaio et al. (2002)	Projeto Contato: Brazilian project that included group discussions about risk reduction strategies and techniques, as well as practical exercises.	×					
Schechter et al. (1988)	HIV counselling and testing.				×		

	Intervention described in article	Herbst	Johnson	Wolitski	Weinhart	Ellis	Rees
Shepherd et al. (1997)	HAPEER Project: peer education.						×
Shoptaw et al. (2005)	Risk-reduction intervention group with former methamphetamine users.	×					
Stall et al. (1999)	Support group for former drug users focusing on the relationship between drugs and sexual risk behaviour.	×					
Toro-Alfonso et al. (2002)	Stop AIDS Project: small group meetings and workshops focused on intimacy, relationships, drug abuse, sex behaviour and HIV/STDs.	×					
Tudiver et al. (1992)	Talking Sex Project serial session group that discussed and practiced risk reduction strategies and establishing relationships.	×				×	
Valdiserri et al. (1989)	AIDS Prevention Project: risk reduction interventions through lectures, information about safer sex and rehearsing ways of lowering the risk of HIV transmission.	×	×			×	

Rees			
Ellis			
Weinhart	×	×	
Wolitski		×	
Johnson			
Herbst			×
Intervention described in article	van Griensven HIV counselling and testing. et al. (1989)	HIV counselling and testing.	Training of peer educators for community outreach that included providing information about HIV and safer sex, as well as empowerment.
	van Griensven et al. (1989)	Zapka et al. (1991)	Zimmerman et al. (1997)